FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 24 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

SEAN PATRICK ESTY,

Appellant,

٧.

CASE NO. 80,598

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital case. The record on appeal will be referred to by the letter "R."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Escambia County charged the appellant, Sean Esty, with one count of first degree murder (R 1801). The case proceeded in the normal course for matters of this type, and during the pre-trial period, the state or Esty filed the following motions or notices:

- 1. Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence Pursuant to 90.404(2), Florida Statutes (R 2038).
- 2. Motion in Limine to prevent the state from mentioning or eliciting any evidence of a sexual relationship between the defendant and victim (R 2078-79). Denied (R 559).
- 3. Motion to Suppress evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant (R 1895). Denied (R 2058).

Esty went to trial before the Honorable Judge Michael Jones and was found guilty as charged (T 2201). The jury, after hearing further evidence, argument, and law in the penalty phase portion of the trial, recommended the court impose a life sentence on the defendant without the possibility of parole for 25 years (R 2209).

The court rejected that verdict. In sentencing Esty to death, it found in aggravation:

- 1. The murder was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner.
- 2. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(R 2379-80).

In mitigation, the court found:

1. The defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity.

(R 2380).

The court, in an extensive sentencing order, rejected all the equally extensive evidence Esty offered to mitigate a death sentence (R 2380-2396).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Lauren Ramsey, a fifteen year old high school student, was found dead about 1 p.m. on December 24, 1991 at Langdon Battery, a World War II gun emplacement which was part of a federal recreation area in Pensacola (R 1017). At the subsequent trial of Sean Esty for her murder, a significant dispute arose about whether she had been dead 24 or 36 hours when her body was discovered (R 1141, 1164, 1294).

At that time, Sean was 18 years old and had graduated from Pensacola High School the previous spring (R 1199, 1457). He and Lauren had been in an ROTC unit at the high school, and during the year before her death, the two had become friends. Actually they were more than that because on at least one occasion, they had had sexual intercourse (R 1244). The boy had also been caught in Lauren's bedroom in December 1990, fully clothed (R 814, 823). At another time, Lauren disappeared and her mother called Esty's mother who found her at her home. She drove the girl back to her house (R 822).

In time, Sean's interest in Lauren waned, but hers did not (R 651, 667). Actually, it did or at least she found other boys to chase. In particular, she became interested in one of Sean's friends, a Wade Wallace (R 1103-1104). Wade, however, had a girl-friend, Angela, but this pair had a lot of fights, and during the time between their spats, Wade would go to Joy Williams, a friend of Lauren, for solace (R 1089). This on again, off again relationship put a lot of strain on Lauren and Joy, so during English class they passed notes hatching plots

to get Wade and Angie to break up (R 1088, 1104). Although excluded at trial, the substance of the plot Lauren liked best was that she would sleep with Wade then claim she was pregnant by him (R 1094-95, 1101). Anyway, Joy gave Wade a note on Halloween when she saw him at a shopping mall (R 1105), and he became upset after reading it (R 1201).

One day about the middle of November 1991, Sean was driving about Pensacola, and during his wanderings he saw Lauren walking along side the rode (R 1244). He picked her up, they talked for a while about old times, and eventually they had sex (R 1245). He felt guilty about this, having promised himself that he would not "let that happen again." (R 1246)

A month later, Lauren, not feeling well, went to her doctor. On Friday, December 20, she learned she was pregnant, and the physician warned her that if she had not told her mother of her condition by Monday, he would (R 803). She was very angry at him probably because she did not want her parent to learn of the pregnancy (R 804). She was last seen alive about 9 p.m. on Sunday December 22 when she went to bed at her grandmother's house (R 816). As mentioned, her body was found almost two days later.

¹Her grandmother lived almost next door to Lauren and her mother, and she would frequently spend the night with her relative (R 814-15).

Sean Esty had recently been an honors student at Pensacola High School (R 1510-1512). Although bright, he was emotionally immature and very insecure (R 1455). He had several friends his age who called themselves the "War Pigs," (R 684) and they would get together often and play "boffo." This was a swordfighting sort of game. Each player made a padded "sword" from PVC pipe and using that instrument, the boys would go at each other (R 685). They played regularly and almost spontaneously whenever the mood struck them (R 1212). As might be expected, they occasionally were cut, bruised, and scratched during these matches (R 686). The youths also collected various sorts of knives (usually large), swords, and oriental defense weapons (R 694-95).

Sean got off work from his job at a steak house about two p.m. on December 22, 1991 (R 1205). For the next several hours he wandered about. He went home, took a shower, played "Dungeons and Dragons" with his friends, drove about town, and took Lisa Bolton, a girl he knew, to a teen club (R 1206-1208). At some point, he picked up Wade Wallace, and the pair went to a waffle house where Angela, Wallace's girlfriend, worked. They got the keys to her apartment from her, and then went outside where the boys "boffoed" for about fifteen or twenty minutes (R 1211-12). During this play, he was cut on the back

 $^{^2}$ During the penalty phase portion of his trial, a psychologist testified that the defendant had an IQ 123 but more probably of about 143 (R 1454).

of his hand (R 1213). Wrapping an old shirt around the wound to stop the bleeding, he got in his car and drove about town some more. Wade had taken Angela's car and left Esty (R 1212). Shortly after midnight, he returned to the club to pick up Lisa, and while there he ran into Wallace (R 1216). Esty took her home, talked with her for a while, then returned to Angela's apartment about 2 a.m. and found Wade playing Nintendo (R 1218-19). Sean asked to "crash" on the couch, and he slept there for a couple of hours or until Wade woke him at 5:30 a.m. (R 1218-19). The defendant finally went home about 6:00 a.m. where he slept for several more hours.

Later that day, he took Lisa to her doctor, and Sean himself also went to a physician to have the wound he had received the night before taken care of (R 1222). He spent the next couple of days finishing his Christmas shopping, visiting friends, and staying at home. During Christmas dinner, Wade Wallace called Esty and asked to borrow a pair of his ROTC boots (R 1227). Sean placed them on the front porch (R 1227), and a short time later, his mother found a pair on the side of the house (R 1228). Those boots had blood stains on them consistent with Lauren Ramsey's blood type (R 933). 3

³Forty percent of the general population have the same enzyme in their blood as that found in the blood on the boot (R 934).

Ramsey had been severely beaten about the head with a blunt object (R 857, 878). She had also been stabbed once through the chest, puncturing a lung but missing the heart (R 860). Found near the body was a broken baseball bat that had belonged to Esty (R 615, 714). A butcher knife was also discovered close to Ramsey (R 602). When the police searched the defendant's car, they found a sales receipt from a grocery store for a butcher knife (R 746). The police also seized a trench coat from Esty's bedroom, and on its bottom were several blood spots which when tested were of the same type as Ramsey's blood (R 979). 4

⁴Although the police searched the crime scene area when they found Lauren's body, they did not seize the bat until the next day (R 631). Also, they did not find a piece of Christmas wrapping paper which had the words "To Sean love Lauren" written on it. That was found some time in January by a civilian (R 636). The police, sometime after the murder, found a machete in the brush near the murder (R 757).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Esty presents 9 guilt phase issues and 3 penalty phase arguments for this court to consider.

Issue I. The police applied for and obtained a warrant to search Esty's home. The supporting affidavit, however, failed to include several facts, some of which the trial court acknowledged should have been included. When that information was included there would have arisen a substantial possibility that a reasonable magistrate would not have probable cause to issue the search warrant.

Issue II. Esty challenged prospective juror Johnson because he could not read. The court erred in not excusing him because in a capital case, the ability to read is virtually required. That is, because Rule 3.390 Fla. R. Crim. P. requires the jurors be given the written instructions in capital cases, Johnson's independence as a juror could not have been assured. Rather than reading what the law said, as the rule contemplates, he would have had to rely on what others said it was. Such a disability in a capital cases was too significant to ignore, and the court erred in not excusing this prospective juror for cause.

Issue III. The defendant was arrested in January 1992 for the murder of Lauren Ramsey that had occurred only weeks earlier. He went to trial barely six months later. In the interim, there apparently was a significant amount of publicity about the case because 76 percent of the venire had heard about it. Such knowledge, while not being enough by itself to justify a

change of venue, when coupled with the short time between the murder and trial, the inherently inflammatory nature of the crime, the incorrect recollection of the facts by several members of the venire, and defense counsel's dissatisfaction with his jury, required that the trial court move the trial to a different community.

Issue IV. Finding a motive for why Esty would want to kill Ramsey posed a problem for the state. It decided that he wanted her dead because he had gotten her pregnant, and her mother would be upset. To prove this reason, the state presented evidence that Esty had had sexual intercourse with Ramsey a month before her death. It also had a witness tell the jury that several months earlier Esty had wanted him to sleep with her out of spite. None of this bad character evidence had any legitimate relevance to this case, having occurred either a month or several months before the murder. None of the evidence was naturally or inextricably connected with the homicide because there is no proof Esty knew Ramsey was pregnant (at least not before her death). Without such knowledge, Esty had no explainable reason for killing Ramsey, so all the testimony concerning his sexual activity with Ramsey or what he wanted done to her had no relevance except to exhibit his bad character.

Issue V. As just mentioned, there was no evidence Esty knew Ramsey was pregnant, or at least he did not know she was until after her death. Hence, that fact had no relevance to this case and only emphasized the defendant's bad character.

While defense counsel did not object to this testimony, it was nevertheless fundamental error to admit it. That Ramsey was pregnant permeated this entire trial and gave the state's case the motive it otherwise would not have had. Without it the prosecutor would have had an exceedingly difficult time proving to the jury's satisfaction that Esty killed her, or if he did, he committed the homicide with a premeditated intent. Issue VI. Over defense objection, the court let the state elicit testimony from its DNA expert that only 2 percent of the population had a blood type similar to that found on the coat seized from Esty's room. Lauren Ramsey was within that small number of people. The court erred in letting this expert give this evidence because it refused to let the defendant conduct the voir dire examination of the witness as required by Section 90.705(2) Fla. Stats. That is, when Esty challenged the expert's conclusion because he had not laid a proper predicate for his testimony, the court should have required the state to establish the basis for his conclusion. Because it never did, this witness' testimony may have been given more weight than it deserved. It was therefore error for the court to have admitted it.

Issue VII. The state wanted to call as a rebuttal witness an expert who would have disputed the defense contention that Ramsey had been dead for less than a day before her body was found. Defense counsel objected to this witness testifying because the state had not promptly disclosed him as required by Rule 3.220 Fla. R. Crim. P. The court, rather than conducting

the appropriate inquiry, simply told counsel to talk with the expert. Counsel objected to that solution because while he could certainly do as the court asked, without his expert he would not know what questions to ask. The court, therefore, erred by forcing counsel to continue with the trial and particularly to examine this expert without affording him a realistic opportunity to prepare to meet the state's case. Issue VIII. During its closing argument, the state told the jury that Esty was a "dangerous, vicious, cold-blooded murderer and in our society the police cannot protect us from people like that and the judges cannot protect us and the prosecutors cannot protect us." Although the court sustained the defendant's objection, its curative instruction was too weak given the tenuous nature of the state's circumstantial case. Besides, as this court has recognized, such emergency quidance to the jury is notoriously ineffective.

Issue IX. Over defense objection, the court gave the standard jury instruction on reasonable doubt. That was error because the jurors could have, based on that guidance, have convicted Esty of murder when they had a reasonable doubt of his guilt but nevertheless had an abiding belief he had committed the charged crime.

Issue X. The court found that Esty committed the murder in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any moral or legal justification. Most of the facts it used to support this finding, however, have no basis in the record and reflect more

the sinister vision conjured by the trial court than what the evidence proves.

Issue XI. The jury recommended that Esty spend the rest of his life in prison but the court overrode it and sentenced him to death. It erred in doing so because there was an abundant amount of evidence presented that reasonably justified the jury's verdict. Esty is an unusually bright young man who had uniformly excelled at whatever he attempted. His friends and neighbors liked him, his teachers viewed him as a bright capable student, and political and military leaders congratulated him on his meritorious achievements. Contrary to the court's deliberate efforts to ignore the wealth of mitigating evidence, this court should reverse the trial court's sentence and remand for imposition of a life sentence. Issue XII. Under this Court's decision in Ellis v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S417 (Fla. July 1, 1993) the court erred when it summarily rejected the defendant's age of 18 as of any mitigating value. It compounded that error when it failed to further consider the uncontradicted evidence that Esty was emotional immature and very insecure for his age. When in a stressful situation, these weaknesses would manifest themselves in inappropriate emotional responses and behavior.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING ESTY'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE SEIZED PURSUANT TO A SEARCH WARRANT, IN VIOLATION OF HIS FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

Shortly after Esty's arrest, the police applied for and obtained a warrant to search his house (R 1818-25). As a result, they seized a pair of his boots and a black coat (R), which proved crucial in establishing the state's case against him. Before trial, he asked the court to suppress fruits of that search, and after a hearing and argument on the matter, the court denied the motion (R 2058). The court did, however, recognize some omissions and inaccuracies in the affidavit in support of the warrant, which will be discussed later.

For purposes of this issue, the key part of the affidavit relevant to the probable cause determination is found on (R 1810-14). To focus Esty's argument, he has summarized those findings and placed them into two groups:

Group A

- At the murder scene was found a knife (Ecko brand)
 with no blood on it, and a baseball bat handle (painted black with pink markings).
- 2. A Stephen Joy saw a small gray vehicle speed away from the crime scene about 11 p.m. on the night of the murder without its lights on.
- 3. On December 22, 1991 Lauren Ramsey told her current boyfriend that she was going to meet with an ex-boyfriend, the

father of the child and discuss the possibility of obtaining an abortion. She did not tell him who the father of her child was.

- 4. Esty and Ramsey had had sexual relations six weeks before December 23, 1991.
- 5. Whips, knives, handcuffs, and a baseball bat painted black with pink markings on it were seen in Esty's car.
- 6. When angry, Esty could not control himself. On one occasion, he had punched his fist through a glass window. Weapons had also been seen in his silver/gray Mazda 626. Esty had also in the past made life threatening telephone calls to his former girlfriend.
- 7. About 12:15 a.m. on December 23rd, Esty picked up Lisa Bolton, his current girlfriend, from Seville Quarter. She notice that he had a large cut on the back of his hand, and there was blood on his boot. When the defendant had dropped Bolton off several hours earlier he had been wearing tennis shoes. Esty said he had cut his hand "boffoing" with Wade Wallace.
- 8. Ramsey had purchased a small "Troll" doll as a Christmas present for Esty on November 28, 1991 and had wrapped it in a Mickey Mouse paper. A torn sheet of such paper was found at the crime scene with the words "To Sean Love, Lauren" written on it.
- 9. Esty had admitted having sexual relations with Ramsey. He also had a bad temper and had once grabbed her by the neck and slammed her against his car when she had scratched it.

Group B.

- 1. Wade Wallace was a close friend of Esty's. A week before the murder he said the defendant had told him that Ramsey was pregnant and he was concerned he might be the father. He also said he did not know how to handle Ramsey but that he would take care of the situation.
- 2. Some time later, Esty said that he needed to meet with Ramsey, but had not done so.
- 3. About 9:30 p.m. on December 22, 1991, Wallace and Esty had a boffo match. He saw no injury on Esty. Later, he saw Esty's car going to the beach. Two hours later, he saw the defendant at the Seville with a cut hand, which he claimed he got while having the boffo match with Wallace.
- 4. Esty told Wallace that he had "taken care of his problem."

The information in the affidavit has been broken into two groups because the statements comprising Group A, while arguably suggesting that Esty was involved with Ramsey's, do not provide sufficient probable cause to lead a person of reasonable prudence to believe he had murdered her. The crucial information comes from Wallace's statements, and that is found in Group B. When Wallace reported that Esty knew Ramsey was pregnant several days before her death, that he would "take care of the situation," and that he had in fact had done so, then even a defense lawyer would have to admit the state had established the requisite level of suspicion to justify issuing a warrant.

The problem with the affidavit, though, is that the police made some crucial misstatements, some of which the court recognized, and some which it should have but did not. Had it done so, as the law requires, there would have arisen a substantial possibility that the issuing magistrate would have found that the police had failed to provide sufficient probable cause to search Esty's house.

Specifically, the police failed to tell the court when it asked for the warrant that Wade Wallace had severe credibility problems. He was, in fact, inherently such a non-credible witness that the state never called him at trial, even though, if the statements attributed to him in the affidavit are true, he would have provided the most damning evidence against Esty.

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