# DEC 10 1993

FILED

SID J. WHITE

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

SEAN PATRICK ESTY,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 80,598

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL COUNTY, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

## ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

- 42 -

Those with greater familiarity with the case, or who had espoused an inability to be impartial, were excused (R 225, 233, 313-14, 324-5, 328, 369, 446, 448, 451, 465-6, 471, 490-1, 513).

All of those jurors who actually served - Piotrowski, Whitworth, Hurley, Evans, Williams, Mastron, Robbins, Adams, Guttman, Bell, K. Smith and Martin - had indicated that they could be fair and impartial, and set aside any prior knowledge (R 264, 271-2, 347-8, 379, 425, 452, 467, 527-8; 2095, 2098, 2108, 2119, 2122, 2123); indeed, five - Piotrowski, Hurley, Williams, Guttman and Bell - had been among those indicating absolutely no knowledge of the case whatsoever. Of the remaining seven, defense counsel, following individual voir dire, had only challenged Mr. Adams, and as noted in Issue II, supra, counsel possessed more than enough opportunities to peremptorily challenge this juror, should such have truly been desired. An abuse of discretion has not been demonstrated in regard to the trial court's ruling upon any valid motion for change of venue. See, e.g., Geralds, supra (denial of motion to change venue not error, where, inter alia, all jurors who served stated affirmatively that they could put aside any prior knowledge; Gaskin, supra, (same); Davis, supra, (same, where several jurors who served indicated prior knowledge of case); Copeland, supra, (same, even where every member of jury panel had indicated some prior knowledge of case). The instant conviction should be affirmed in all respects.

#### ISSUE IV

ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE APPELLANT'S SEXUAL RELATIONSHIP WITH THE VICTIM WAS NOT ERROR

Esty next contends that he is entitled to a new trial, because the state introduced evidence below to the effect that he had had sex with the victim a month prior to her death and that he once urged a friend of his to have sex with Lauren Ramsey "out of spite" because he hated her. Appellant argues that this evidence was improper "Williams Rule" evidence, which simply went toward his bad character and prejudiced him before the jury; appellant maintains that the incidents occurred too far removed in time to be relevant and were not similar to the murder for which Esty was on trial. For the reasons set forth below, appellee would contend that reversible error has not been demonstrated. No claim of error has been preserved for review in regard to the first matter, and both matters were properly admitted to show motive or existence of premeditation. Contrary to appellant's contention, neither of these matters was introduced to show "bad character" on the part of appellant, and reasonable possibility exists that the jury viewed the no evidence in this light.

The record indicates that, prior to trial, the state filed a formal notice, pursuant to §90.404(2) <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1991), stating that it intended to offer evidence at trial pertaining to the fact that Esty had committed a sexual battery on the victim, in violation of §800.04, during the last ten days of November 1991, and, further, that this evidence was relevant to, <u>inter alia</u>, motive or intent (R 2037-8). The defense countered by filing a

- 44 -

motion in limine, seeking to preclude the introduction of any evidence pertaining to "any alleged sexual contact between the defendant and Lauren Ramsey", on the grounds that such related only to Esty's "bad character" (R 2078-9). The matter was not taken up again until after the jury was sworn (R 556). At this time, the prosecutor stated that the evidence at issue was relevant to show motive, and that the relationship between the victim and the defendant was, of course, relevant (R 556-7). The court ruled that the state could properly introduce evidence concerning the incident which had occurred during the last ten days of November of 1991, as such was relevant to motive or the existence of premeditation, but that a proffer would be required, should any other specific acts of sexual involvement between the parties be offered; the court also ruled that the state could properly introduce evidence as to the relationship between the victim and the defendant (R 558-563).

Subsequently during the trial, the state called Henry Lusane, a schoolmate of Esty's (R 644). Lusane testified that he had been acquainted with the victim, and that, on occasion, appellant had discussed Lauren Ramsey with him (R 647-8). At this point, the defense requested a proffer, and the state indicated that the witness would testify that Esty had told him that he hated Ms. Ramsey and wanted Lusane to get her pregnant, out of spite (R 649). The defense objected that this evidence was irrelevant and prejudicial, and such objection was overruled (R 649-650). The witness then stated that, during the second year that he had known Esty, Esty had told him that he hated the victim and that he wanted Lusane to have sex with her out of

- 45 -

spite (R 651-2); Lusane estimated that this could have occured in late August of 1991, and stated that he had considered it to be a joke at the time (R 653).

Despite the court's ruling on the motion in limine, it would not appear that the state actually introduced, in its case-inchief, any testimony concerning Esty having sex with the victim At most, state witnesses testified that in November of 1991. Esty had originally been fond of Ms. Ramsey, but that they had had a falling-out and he had become disillusioned with her (R 686-7); likewise, state witnesses testified, without objection, that Esty had told them, after the murder, that the victim had been pregnant and that he could have been responsible (R 691, 705). It was Esty himself who stated, on cross-examination, that he had in fact had sex with the victim in November of 1991; no objection was interposed by defense counsel (R 1244). Likewise, again without objection, Esty confirmed that he had told others that he could have been the father of the victim's unborn child (R 1248-9). As noted in the Initial Brief, Esty testified on cross-examination that he had not believed that having sex with the fifteen year-old victim had been against the law (R 1263); no objection was interposed in regard to this testimony. Esty did concede, however, that if Ms. Ramsey had been pregnant by him, he would have been in trouble (R 1265-6). In closing argument, the prosecutor made reference to the fact that Esty had had sex with the victim five weeks prior to the murder (R 1373), but no reference was made to whether such act had constituted a crime, and no reference was made to Lusane's testimony concerning appellant's statement to him.

Given what did, and did not, occur at trial, appellant's point on appeal is rather difficult to grasp. Although the court below plainly granted the state leave to introduce evidence concerning the fact that Esty had had sex with the victim four to five weeks prior to her murder, it would not appear that the state actually introduced such evidence in its case-in-chief. As best as can be determined, it would appear that this evidence was not elicited until Esty himself mentioned it on cross-examination (R 1244). As noted, no contemporaneous objection was interposed in regard to this testimony. Although there had been a prior limine motion, caselaw clearly provides that this claim of error has been waived, in the absence of subsequent and contemporaneous See, e.g., Lawrence v. State, 614 So.2d 1092, 1094 objection. (Fla. 1993); Maharaj v. State, 597 So.2d 786, 690 (Fla. 1992); Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988).

Assuming that this court disagrees, error has nevertheless not been demonstrated. The fact that Esty had had sex with the victim in late November is relevant, because, inasmuch as she was four weeks pregnant when murdered (R 805), Esty could have been the father, as he himself admitted. The fact of paternity, as well as Esty's hostile feelings toward the victim, provided him with a motive for the murder. As this court observed in Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 863 (Fla. 1987), evidence of motive should not be kept from the jury merely because it may reveal commission of crimes not charged. In this case, it is not necessary to utilize the full extent of the Craig holding, in that, contrary to the representations in the Initial Brief, the jury in this basis to believe that this sexual activity had no case

constituted a crime; all that this jury heard was Esty's statement that he did not believe that any crime had been committed, such statement uncontradicted by either evidence or argument by the state (R 1262-5). Error has not been demonstrated, <u>cf. Maharaj</u>, <u>supra</u> (evidence concerning victim's accusations against defendant relevant to motive and properly admitted), <u>Craig</u>, <u>supra</u> (evidence that defendant stole cattle from victims relevant to show motive for murder), <u>Heiney v</u>. <u>State</u>, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984) (evidence as to defendant's prior crime relevant as to motive), and appellant's reliance upon <u>Garron v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1988) is misplaced.

Although appellant's claim of error in regard to the admission of Lusane's testimony is apparently preserved for review, reversible error has similarly not been demonstrated. The state proceeded against Esty under a theory of premeditated murder. Esty's statement to Lusane, several months before the murder, definitely indicated hostility toward the victim, and it is well-established that evidence from which premeditation can be inferred includes "previous difficulties between the parties." See, e.g., Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964, 967 (Fla. 1981). Esty has failed to demonstrate that this statement of his was too remote to be relevant, see, e.g., Webster v. State, 93 So. 300, Fla. 369 (1940), and, in light of this court's prior 141 precedents, this evidence was clearly admissible. See, e.g., King v. State, 436 So.2d 50, 54-5 (Fla. 1993) (evidence that defendant had previously beaten victim twenty-three days prior to murder properly admitted as to premeditation); Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372, 1376-7 (Fla. 1983) (evidence that defendant had

- 48 -

previously threatened victim, tried to induce victim into "fastdraw contest" and that victim had been seen with two black eyes properly admitted as going toward matters other than defendant's bad character); Jackson v. State, 545 So.2d 260, 264 (Fla. 1989) (evidence that defendant physically abused wife prior to murder proper to show motive). This remark of Esty's, even if totally tasteless and hostile, was hardly "a crime", and, even if erroneous, its admission was truly harmless. See, e.q., Lawrence, supra (evidence that defendant "jiggled old women out of their money" improperly admitted, but error harmless as these "few objectionable words" did not become a feature of the trial). No reasonable possibility exists that any error addressed herein contributed to Esty's conviction, see, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, (Fla. 1986), and the instant conviction should be affirmed in all respects.

### **ISSUE V**

## FUNDAMENTAL ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED IN REGARD TO ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF THE FACT THAT THE VICTIM WAS PREGNANT

In a somewhat related claim, Esty contends that the trial court committed fundamental error, in admitting into evidence the fact that the victim was pregnant. Appellate counsel's usage of the term, "fundamental error", is apparently a concession that, in fact, no contemporaneous objection was interposed below, and that, in fact, no claim of error has been preserved for review. It is likely that the reason trial counsel did not interpose any objection in regard to this matter below was that he understood the relevancy of the evidence at issue. The fact that the victim was pregnant was not introduced for its sensational value, but rather due to the fact that it was a facet of the crime, and relevant to motive. Fundamental error has not been demonstrated, and the instant conviction should be affirmed in all respects.

The record in this case indicates that defense counsel below did <u>not</u> argue in his motion in limine that the state should be precluded from introducing evidence as to the victim's pregnancy (R 2078-9), and numerous state witnesses testified, without objection, that the victim had been pregnant (R 691, 705, 805, 863); during the defense case itself, Esty himself offered comparable testimony (R 1248-9). Both the state and defense, without highlighting the matter, mentioned Ramsey's pregnancy in closing argument (R 1373, 1395). The only fair reading of the record below is that the learned trial judge was on absolutely no notice that any claim of error could, or would, exist in regard to the admission of evidence concerning the victim's pregnancy.

This court has consistently held that, in order for a claim to be reviewed on appeal, it must have been the specific contention asserted as legal grounds for an objection, motion or exception below. <u>See, e.g., Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982); <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985); <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 1343, 1345 (Fla. 1990); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 902, 906 (Fla. 1990). The purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule, of course, is to conserve valuable judicial resources and to allow the trial court an opportunity to correct any error at an early stage of the proceedings. <u>See, Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331, 334-5 (Fla. 1978); <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). Due to Esty's failure to object below, this claim is procedurally

- 50 -

barred, and appellant has failed to demonstrate why the contemporaneous objection rule should not apply. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Capehart v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 1009, 1013-14 (Fla. 1991) (defendant's failure to object at trial procedurally barred claim in regard to admission of testimony at trial as to personal characteristics of victim; claim of fundamental error rejected).

Assuming that any further argument is necessary, Esty has failed to demonstrate the existence of any error, fundamental or The fact that Lauren Ramsey was pregnant was not otherwise. gratuitously admitted for its sensational value, cf. Vacjek v. State, 477 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), but, rather, due to its relevancy. The evidence below reflected that Lauren Ramsey had been told by her doctor, in mid-December, that she was pregnant (R 803). On Friday, December 20, 1991, Dr. Montgomery told the victim, who was, of course, a minor, that she would tell Ramsey's mother herself if Lauren did not reveal her pregnancy by Monday afternoon (R 804). Dr. Montgomery stated that the victim was very angry with her for being given such a deadline. Apparently, Ms. Ramsey did not tell her mother, and on Sunday, December 22, 1991, the day before the "deadline", disappeared from her grandparents' home; she was last seen at 10:00 p.m. that night, but, when her mother and grandmother went to awaken her the next morning, she was gone (R 824).

The victim and defendant unquestionably had a meeting on the night of December 22, 1991. There was testimony that Ramsey had previously bought a Christmas present for Esty, a "troll" doll, and had wrapped such in Mickey Mouse paper (R 668, 672); in fact, Michelle Primm saw Ms. Ramsey write on the wrapping paper,

- 51 -

"To Sean, Love Lauren" (R 668). After the victim's body was discovered at Langdon Battery, a piece of Mickey Mouse paper, with a notation, "To Sean, Love, Lauren" was found in a bush nearby (R 636, 639). Additionally, a search of the trunk of Esty's vehicle revealed a troll doll lying under a Christmas package, along with two greeting cards from Lauren Ramsey (R 749-750). Further, <u>inter alia</u>, a piece of broken baseball bat, with Esty's palm print upon it, was found at the scene, such weapon consistent with that utilized to bludgeon Ms. Ramsey to death (R 720-1, 619).

The victim's pregnancy linked the victim to the defendant, admitted to several persons that who he could have been responsible, and that such fact could have gotten him into trouble (R 691, 705, 1265-6). The fact that the state did not have direct evidence that Esty was aware of the victim's pregnancy prior to the murder is neither dispositive nor particularly significant. The victim's pregnancy was not a "feature" of the trial, and Esty has failed to demonstrate that its admission into evidence deprived him of fundamental fairness. Cf. Downs v. State, 572 So.2d 895, 900 (Fla. 1990) (fundamental error must rise to level of denial of due process where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application). Such showing has not been made sub judice, and the instant conviction should be affirmed in all respects.

REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED IN REGARD TO DR. SINHA'S TESTIMONY CONCERNING POPULATION STUDIES

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